THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-26-0166
Appellate Case No. 2016-001499

Jeanne Beverly, Individually Appellant
and on behalf of others
similarly situated

v.

Grand Strand Regional, Respondents.
Medical Center, LLC

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John G. Felder, Jr.
McGowan, Hood & Felder
1517 Hampton Street
Columbia, SC 29201
Telephone: (803)779-0100
Facsimile: (803) 256-0702
jfelder@mcgowanhood.com

Chad A. McGowan
Jordan C. Calloway
1539 Health Care Drive
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29732
Telephone: (803) 327-7800

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred in finding a Blue Cross member was not an intended third-party beneficiary to a contract between Blue Cross and Grand Strand in which Grand Strand agreed to submit bills for member services to Blue Cross and never seek payment from members.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in finding no fiduciary relationship between a Blue Cross member and Grand Strand, a hospital which touted its Blue Cross PPO provider status and solicited Blue Cross members to seek services at its facility.
3. Whether the circuit court erred in finding it was equitable for Grand Strand to charge a Blue Cross member when it promised not to and for Grand Strand to retain payments at a rate far higher than the agreed upon rate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jeanne Beverly filed and served her Complaint on January 6, 2016, alleging claims for (1) breach of contract; (2) bad faith; and (3) unjust enrichment. (R. pp. 23-26). All of Ms. Beverly's claims arise out of an emergency room visit at Respondent Grand Strand Regional Medical Center ("Grand Strand") following an auto accident. The Complaint was filed on behalf of Ms. Beverly and other similarly situated Grand Strand patients. Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, Grand Strand filed a motion to dismiss on March 3, 2016, asking the circuit court to dismiss all three of Ms. Beverly's claims. (R. pp. 28-29). Both parties submitted memoranda of law, and the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson heard oral arguments on April 26, 2016. The circuit court entered an order granting Grand Strand's motion, and Ms. Beverly filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion on May 10, 2016. (R. pp. 55-59). The circuit court denied this motion, and Ms. Beverly's counsel received written notice of the order on July 11, 2016. Ms. Beverly filed and served a timely notice of appeal on July 19, 2016. (R. p. 102).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ms. Beverly was injured in an auto accident caused by another driver on September 6, 2012. (R. p. 20 ¶ 12). On that same day, she presented to Grand Strand's emergency room for diagnosis and treatment of her injuries. (R. p. 20 ¶ 13). Ms. Beverly was evaluated by an emergency room physician, and Grand Strand personnel treated a wound she suffered in the accident. (R. pp. 20-21 ¶¶ 13, 22). A short time later, Grand Strand mailed Ms. Beverly an unexpected \$8,000 bill for emergency room services. (R. p. 21 ¶ 22). The bill was unexpected because Ms. Beverly previously purchased a health insurance policy from Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina ("Blue Cross") that made her a Blue Cross "member" and granted her access to Blue Cross's Preferred Provider Organization ("PPO"). (R. p. 20 ¶ 14). The PPO was a

network of hospitals and medical practices marketed to Blue Cross members as “preferred” providers. (R. pp. 20-24 ¶¶ 16, 41-43; R. p. 116 § 11.2). Ms. Beverly was supposed to benefit from the PPO because PPO providers like Grand Strand were prohibited from billing her. (R. pp. 20-23 ¶¶ 17, 34; R. p. 109 §§ 6.1-6.2).

In the Institutional Agreement, Grand Strand became a PPO provider in exchange for a promise to bill Blue Cross directly for medical services to Blue Cross members. (R. pp. 20-24 ¶¶ 17, 34, 43; R. p. 109 §§ 6.2-6.3). Grand Strand also promised to accept from Blue Cross a discount reimbursement rate for these services. (R. pp. 20-24 ¶¶ 17, 34; R. p. 109 § 6.4). Specifically, the Institutional Agreement¹ prohibited Grand Strand from “solicit[ing] any payment from [Blue Cross] Members” and required Grand Strand to “accept the reimbursement terms and rates” Blue Cross established for the PPO. (R. p. 109 §§ 6.1, 6.4). After signing the Institutional Agreement in 2005, Grand Strand began marketing itself to Blue Cross members as a PPO provider. (R. p. 24 ¶¶ 41-43). Ms. Beverly was aware of Grand Strand’s PPO provider status and expected Grand Strand to function accordingly when she sought out the hospital after her auto accident. (R. p. 24 ¶ 45).

However, the Complaint alleges Grand Strand chose to disregard its contractual duties for Ms. Beverly and similarly situated patients. (R. p. 23 ¶¶ 33-36). Emergency room services for auto accident victims are a poor economic performer for Grand Strand, especially given the discount reimbursement rate Grand Strand agreed to accept from Blue Cross. (R. p. 21 ¶ 19). By charging Ms. Beverly directly and for an amount exceeding the Institutional Agreement’s reimbursement rate, Ms. Beverly alleges Grand Strand acted in its own economic interest and in violation of its contractual duties. (R. pp. 21-25 ¶¶ 21, 22, 24, 46-49). Ms. Beverly demanded

¹ The Complaint alleges Ms. Beverly, as a Blue Cross member, is a third-party beneficiary of the Institutional Agreement. (R. p. 21 ¶ 25).

damages for Grand Strand's breach of contractual and fiduciary duties and, in the alternative, an equitable recovery to remedy Grand Strand's unjust enrichment. (R. pp. 23-26 ¶¶ 36, 50, 56).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A defending party may assert in its answer or in a pre-answer motion a defense alleging the complaint against the defending party fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC. When reviewing a 12(b)(6) motion, a court must view a complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and every doubt must be resolved in the plaintiff's favor. Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007). If the "facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case," then the court may not grant a 12(b)(6) motion. Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing Co., 377 S.C. 108, 113, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008). A court may not dismiss a complaint merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail. Plyler, 373 S.C. at 645, 647 S.E.2d at 192. An appellate court must apply the same standard. Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist., 408 S.C. 171, 176, 758 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2014).

ARGUMENT

In the age of modern medicine and a booming health care industry, a hospital stay is rarely a simple two-party transaction between doctor and patient. Since medical services are costly and unpredictable, it is advisable and now required by federal law² that patients invite a third party to the transaction by procuring health insurance. A patient's relationship with her medical provider is directly affected by the provider's relationship with her insurer since insurers often reach agreements with providers regarding which services the insurer will cover and how the provider will be compensated. Although the provision and payment of health care services is inherently trilateral, the governing contracts often name just two of the participants—e.g. a patient's policy with her insurer or the insurer's reimbursement contract with the provider. When coverage or reimbursement disputes arise, the participants may find themselves seeking relief from a party with whom they lack contractual privity. Medical providers may seek to enforce provisions of their patient's policy with her insurer, and a patient may seek to enforce provisions of her insurer's contract with the provider.

This case asks whether South Carolina contract law and equity principles recognize the core structure of the health insurance market by allowing its participants to enforce duties specifically intended to benefit them even when memorialized in someone else's contract. Several jurisdictions have held that medical providers like Grand Strand may rely on provisions of an insurer-insured contract to demand reimbursement for health care services. Other jurisdictions have also held that patients like Ms. Beverly may rely on provisions within an insurer-provider contract to demand the discount for medical services her provider agreed to accept and to avoid the bill for those services her provider agreed not to send.

² See 26 U.S.C. § 5000A (requiring individuals to “maintain minimum essential coverage” for medical expenses).

South Carolina contract law recognizes the enforcement rights for intended third-party beneficiaries like Ms. Beverly. Yet, the circuit court dismissed Ms. Beverly's contract and equitable claims by concluding she was not a third-party beneficiary and Grand Strand was justified in bypassing her insurer altogether while charging her directly at rates far above what it had agreed to accept. As it stands, Grand Strand's profit-driven decision to ignore its contractual obligation to submit claims is a wrong for which Ms. Beverly lacks a remedy. The circuit court's order should be reversed because it overlooks key provisions of the relevant contract and South Carolina law.

1. Ms. Beverly is an Intended Third-Party Beneficiary of the Institutional Agreement Empowered to Enforce its Claim Submission and Reimbursement Rate Provisions.

While the Institutional Agreement names only Blue Cross and Grand Strand as parties, Blue Cross members like Ms. Beverly are directly benefited by its provisions. Those benefits are not incidental; Grand Strand joined the PPO by entering the Institutional Agreement, an insurance arrangement designed for the purpose of saving Blue Cross members money and the administrative inconvenience inherent to processing medical bills.

Under South Carolina law, it is well-settled that a non-party may enforce contractual terms that intentionally provide her direct benefits. Kingman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 405, 412, 134 S.E.2d 217, 221 (1964). Determining whether a third-party may enforce a contract is a matter of contract interpretation. Touchberry v. City of Florence, 295 S.C. 47, 49, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988). The circuit court incorrectly interpreted the Institutional Agreement to exclude Ms. Beverly as a third-party beneficiary based on a purported third-party beneficiary disclaimer provision. (R. p. 7) (citing R. p. 123 § 16.16). The court erred because it failed to give effect to the remaining twenty pages of the Institutional Agreement, which imposes requirements on Grand Strand specifically intended to benefit Ms. Beverly and other Blue Cross members.

Additionally, the circuit court failed to give effect to the full language of the purported disclaimer provision which expressly carves out Ms. Beverly's claims.

a. The Institutional Agreement Adds Grand Strand to a PPO Network Structured to Provide Direct Benefits to Blue Cross Members.

The Institutional Agreement's language, structure, and purpose demonstrate its parties' intent to provide direct benefits to Blue Cross members like Ms. Beverly. From its opening provision, the Institutional Agreement acknowledges its core objective is to support a "Preferred Provider Organization" created "for the benefit of [Blue Cross] Members." (R. p. 104 § 1.1). The Institutional Agreement defines PPO as a health insurance network containing "financial incentives for Members." (R. p. 106 § 2.16). Those financial incentives are made explicit later in the contract when Grand Strand agreed to accept reimbursement for its services from Blue Cross at a discount rate. (R. p. 109 § 6.4). Beyond co-pays and deductibles, Grand Strand was prohibited from charging Blue Cross members for Covered Services, not even at the reduced rate. (R. p. 109 § 6.1).³ In clear terms, Grand Strand agreed it would "not solicit any payment from Members." (R. p. 109 § 6.1). Furthermore, the Institutional Agreement also conferred practical benefits on Blue Cross members by placing on Grand Strand the obligation to submit the members' bills to Blue Cross. (R. p. 109 § 6.3) (providing Grand Strand "shall . . . submit all bills as soon as practicable").

Ms. Beverly's third-party beneficiary status is also evident from the PPO's structure—established by the Institutional Agreement. This is significant because the court must consider not only the contract language but the circumstance of the parties and their purpose at the time the contract was formed. M & M Group, Inc. v. Holmes, 379 S.C. 468, 477 666 S.E.2d 262, 266

³ Grand Strand was also prohibited from charging Blue Cross members for Covered Services that were not medically necessary. (R. p. 113 § 7.2).

(Ct. App. 2008) (quoting Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 94, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004)); see also Holden v. Alice Mfg., Inc., 317 S.C. 215, 221, 452 S.E.2d 628, 631 (Ct. App. 1994) (noting that to understand the meaning of the terms chosen for the contract, it is important to consider its “subject matter and purpose”).

The Institutional Agreement was created to further a PPO, a health insurance structure with inherent benefits to insureds. A PPO is a form of health insurance that links an insurance company to a network of medical providers who are granted “preferred” status by the insurer only if they agree to provide discounts to the insurer’s members. As described by South Carolina’s federal district court, a contract adding a hospital to an insurer’s existing PPO is meant to net advantages for the insurer’s members:

A PPO is a means of health insurance whereby the insurance company contracts with a network of health care providers, including hospitals. The insurer attempts to negotiate favorable rates of reimbursement for the cost of health care that reflects the volume of patients the insurer expects to deliver to the preferred health care provider. The insurer then passes through some of this cost saving to subscribers in the form of lower co-payments and reduced deductibles, which creates the incentive for the patient to use the preferred providers and, in turn creates the volume to support the ‘discount.’

Drs. Steuer & Latham, P.A. v. Nat’l Med. Enters., Inc., 672 F. Supp. 1489, 1513 (D.S.C. 1987).

In other words, a PPO is “a network of health care providers organized to offer medical services at discounted rates.” HCA Health Servs. of Ga. Inc. v. Employers Health Ins. Co., 240 F.3d 982 (11th Cir. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by* Doyle v. Liberty Life Assurance Co. of Boston, 542 F.3d 1352 (11th Cir. 2008). A PPO is intended to benefit all three participants. Grand Strand gained access to Blue Cross’s expansive membership along with guaranteed reimbursements from Blue Cross in exchange for accepting reduced payments and taking on the responsibility of submitting members’ claims. See HCA Health Servs. of Va., Inc. v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 803 F. Supp. 1132, 1134 (E.D. Va. 1992). Blue Cross gained greater cost control in

exchange for promising prompt reimbursements and best efforts to tout Grand Strand's PPO provider status to Blue Cross members.

Grand Strand argues these are the only benefits the Institutional Agreement confers. However, that argument is no more consistent with the contract language cited above than it is with the structure of the PPO that Grand Strand was joining. PPOs directly benefit Blue Cross's members by assuring "a lesser cost than would have been otherwise charged." First Health Group Corp. v. United Payors & United Providers, Inc., 95 F. Supp. 2d 845, 849 (N.D. Ill. 2000) (citing Office of the Inspector General, Office of Personnel Management, Rep. No. 99-00-97-054, Report on the Use of Silent PPOs in the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program 20-23 (1998)); see also Elizabeth S. Rolph et al., *State Laws and Regulations Governing Preferred Provider Organizations*, Rand Corporation (1986), at 3 (noting all PPOs "offer enrollees incentives to limit their care to a panel of 'preferred' providers . . . Typical incentives include lower deductibles and copayments, or coverage of more services when a PPO provider is used").

By refusing its contractual duty to submit Ms. Beverly's bill to Blue Cross and its duty to accept the agreed-upon reimbursement rate, Grand Strand denied Ms. Beverly the fundamental benefits of her participation in the PPO network. Grand Strand was expressly prohibited from sending Ms. Beverly an \$8,000 bill when it had agreed to accept far less and promised not to seek any payment from Ms. Beverly. As the person aggrieved by Grand Strand's conduct and the direct recipient of Grand Strand's contractual obligations, Ms. Beverly is entitled to enforce the Institutional Agreement against Grand Strand. By dismissing Ms. Beverly's breach of contract claim, the circuit court disregarded the Institutional Agreement's language and the core structure of a PPO.

b. Insurance Customers are Recognized as Third-Party Beneficiaries to PPO Provider Contracts in Other Jurisdictions.

The Complaint alleges Grand Strand has a systemic, nefarious billing practice for auto accident victims entering their emergency room with medical insurance coverage. (R. pp. 20-21 ¶¶ 17-24). Grand Strand is not the only hospital defying its contracts with insurers to enhance its profits and harm its patients.⁴ Several other jurisdictions have considered the issue and held that patients like Ms. Beverly are third-party beneficiaries entitled to enforce insurer-provider contracts like the Institutional Agreement. In fact, the Tennessee Supreme Court addressed the issue for **this same Institutional Agreement** between a Tennessee hospital and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Tennessee. Benton v. Vanderbilt Univ., 137 S.W.3d 614 (Tenn. 2004). While the court specifically considered an arbitration dispute, that dispute only arose because the court recognized a Blue Cross insured was a third-party beneficiary of the hospital's Institutional Agreement with the Tennessee Blue Cross affiliate. See also West v. Shelby Cnty. Healthcare Corp., 459 S.W.3d 33, 45 (Tenn. 2014) (citing Benton and noting the court had "already held that persons insured by an insurance company are intended third-party beneficiaries of the contract between their insurance company and a hospital").

In another billing dispute between a Blue Cross insured and a hospital contracting with the insurer, an Arizona court found that a provision requiring the hospital to accept a discount reimbursement rate was "clearly a benefit to the [Blue Cross] subscriber [and] that benefit is both intentional and direct." Nahom v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Ariz., Inc., 885 P.2d 1113, 1117

⁴ Evidence suggests the conduct Ms. Beverly alleges is common among medical providers in South Carolina and across the country. See Steve Everly, St. Luke's Hospital Settles Health Insurance Cases with Accident Victims, KANSAS CITY STAR, Apr. 25, 2014, available at <http://www.kansascity.com/news/business/article346893/St.-Luke%E2%80%99s-Hospital-settles-health-insurance-cases-with-accident-victims.html> (noting settlement of claims for similar conduct in Missouri and quoting a South Carolina attorney referring to the practice as "prevalent" in our state).

(Ariz. App. 1994). As further evidence that the insured was an intended third-party beneficiary, Nahom noted the numerous times Blue Cross members were named in the contract. Id. at 1118. This same scenario was addressed in Dorr v. Sacred Heart Hospital, 597 N.W.2d 462, 475 (Wis. App. 1999). Dorr held that a provision in the hospital's provider agreement barring the hospital from billing an insurer's members was "designed specifically for the purpose of protecting" the members and was intended to make each member a third-party beneficiary to the contract. Id.

The South Dakota Supreme Court reached the same conclusion when construing a hospital's contract with a self-insured health plan. Jennings v. Rapid City Reg'l Hosp. Inc., 802 N.W.2d 918 (S.D. 2011). The health plan's members were third-party beneficiaries to the contract because "the contract language clearly expresses intent to benefit" the members. Id. at 922. Jennings made special note of the contract's recitals which, like this case, identified the benefits to members the insurance plan expressly intended to provide. Id. Jennings also rejected the notion that the members could not be a third-party beneficiary because the contract provided direct benefits to its parties—i.e. hospital and insurer. Notwithstanding its benefits to its parties, the contract intended to directly benefit the members, and as such the members must be permitted to protect those benefits by enforcing the contract's terms. Id. at 923 ("We look only at who was directly and primarily benefited. In this case, it is [the insured]"); see also Premovic v. Northshore Univ. Healthcare Sys., 2015 IL App. (1st) 133466-U, 2015 WL 71708, at *1 n. 2 (Ill. App. Jan. 5, 2015) (noting trial court denied a motion to dismiss insured's third-party beneficiary claim).

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