THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-26-0166
Appellate Case No. 2016-001499

Jeanne Beverly, Individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,.....Appellant,

v.

Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, LLCRespondent.

**RESPONDENT GRAND STRAND REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, LLC'S
FINAL BRIEF**

James Lynn Werner
William R. Thomas
Katon E. Dawson Jr.
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100
Post Office Box 1509 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Tel: 803-255-8000
Fax: 803-255-8017
jimwerner@parkerpoe.com
willthomas@parkerpoe.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly held that Beverly is not an intended third-party beneficiary with the right to enforce the Institutional Agreement.

The circuit court properly held that Beverly is not a third-party beneficiary with the right to enforce or sue upon the Institutional Agreement. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s decision on the following grounds: (1) the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement precludes the existence of third-party beneficiaries with status to enforce its terms; (2) the authority Beverly relies upon from other jurisdictions is inapplicable and readily distinguishable from the present action; and (3) the Institutional Agreement does not include an exception to the third-party beneficiary disclaimer.

A. The plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement precludes third-parties from enforcing its terms.

The circuit court correctly held that Beverly does not have standing to bring a claim for breach of the Institutional Agreement because the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement precludes the existence of any third-party with intended beneficiary status to enforce or sue upon the terms of the Agreement. (R. 6-9).

In South Carolina, the law presumes that parties contract exclusively for their own benefit, and that presumption may only be overcome by showing the parties to the contract intended to create the right for a third party to enforce the contract as an intended and direct beneficiary. *Touchberry v. City of Florence*, 295 S.C. 47, 48-49, 367 S.E.2d 149, 150 (1988). The law does not recognize such status or rights for a party who is merely an incidental or consequential beneficiary of the contract. *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005); see *Bob Hammond Constr. Co. v. Banks Constr. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 424, 440 S.E.2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding a third party not in contractual privity with the contracting parties had no right to enforce a contract unless the contracting parties clearly intended to create a direct third-party beneficiary to the agreement); *Kleckley v. Northwestern Nat'l Cas. Co.*, 338 S.C. 131, 136, 526 S.E.2d 218, 220 (2000) (holding an injured third party could not assert a bad faith claim against a tortfeasor's insurance company because the injured party was not a party to the contract).

To determine whether parties to a contract intended a plaintiff to be a third-party beneficiary, a court must look to and give legal effect to the intentions of the parties as expressed in the plain language of their contract. *Gilbert v. Miller*, 356 S.C. 25, 30, 586 S.E.2d 861, 864 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding the lease agreement at issue did not intend to make the plaintiff a third-party beneficiary allowed to enforce its terms). If a contract's language is clear and capable of

legal construction, a court is to interpret the contract's language according to its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as expressed in the instrument. *Id.* (citing *Smith-Cooper v. Cooper*, 344 S.C. 289, 543 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2001)). A court does not have the "authority to alter a contract by construction or make new contracts for the parties, and words cannot be read into a contract which impart an intent wholly unexpressed when the contract was executed." *Gilstrap v. Culpepper*, 283 S.C. 83, 86, 320 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1984) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Courts are bound to interpret the intent of the contracting parties based upon the four corners of the contract. *Silver v. Aabstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 591, 658 S.E.2d 539, 542 (Ct. App. 2008). Thus, when the parties to the contract include an express third-party beneficiary disclaimer, the court must find the contracting parties did not intend to convey a direct benefit to third-parties or to create for those third parties a right to enforce or sue upon the contract. *See 1500 Range Way Partners, LLC v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nat. Ass'n*, 800 F. Supp. 2d 716, 721 n.3 (D.S.C. 2011) (dismissing a plaintiff's claim for breach of contract because a court may not ignore the plain and unambiguous terms of a contract containing a third-party beneficiary disclaimer and allow a third-party to bring an action to enforce a contract to which the plaintiff is not a party); *see also SynchroPile, Inc. v. Traylor Bros. Inc.*, No. CIV.A. 10-1896, 2011 WL 3419630, at *5-6 (E.D. La. Aug. 3, 2011), *aff'd*, 470 F. App'x 349 (5th Cir. 2012) (holding that the four corners of the contract manifested a clear intent of the parties not to directly benefit third parties and finding third parties were barred from recovering under the plain language of the contract); *Balsam v. Tucows Inc.*, 627 F.3d 1158, 1163 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding that in the "absence of any evidence to the contrary, . . . the 'No Third Party Beneficiaries' clause unambiguously manifest[ed] an intent *not* to create any obligations to third parties through the

[agreement].”); *Old Stone Bank v. Fid. Bank*, 749 F. Supp. 147, 152 (N.D. Tex. 1990) (enforcing a contract’s third-party beneficiary disclaimer on the grounds that courts are bound to interpret the intent of the contracting parties based upon the four corners of the instrument); *RPC Liquidation v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 717 N.W.2d 317, 321-322 (Iowa 2006) (considering a similar third-party beneficiary disclaimer and holding a third party could not recover under the terms of the contract because the disclaimer evidenced the express intent of the contracting parties to exclude third-party beneficiaries); *Richmond Shopping Center, Inc. v. Wiley N. Jackson Co.*, 220 Va. 135, 142 (Va. 1979) (finding a provision specifically stating third parties may not recover under the contract governs and, therefore, third parties were not entitled to recover under the contract); *Atherton v. Tenet Healthcare Corp.*, No. 2005-UP-362; 2005 WL 7084013, at *4 (Ct. App. May 25, 2005) (holding the contract’s third-party disclaimer conveyed an unambiguous expression of the parties’ intent to exclude third-parties from being able to enforce its terms).¹

The circuit court did not err in finding the express language of the Institutional Agreement evidenced the express intent of Grand Strand and BCBS to preclude third-parties from enforcing their contract. In reaching this conclusion, the circuit court relied on the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement, which language determines its force and effect. Thus, the circuit court properly construed the terms of the Institutional Agreement according to their plain, ordinary, and popular meaning. See *ERIE Ins. Co. v. Winter Const. Co.*, 393 S.C. 455, 461, 713 S.E.2d 318, 321 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Basic contract law provides that when a contract is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract’s force and

¹ While an unpublished opinion may not hold precedential value, the reasoning applied by the Court of Appeals in *Atherton* provides clear and directly applicable guidance in the present matter. Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR.

effect.” (citing *C.A.N. Enters., Inc. v. S.C. Health & Human Servs. Fin. Comm'n*, 296 S.C. 373, 377, 373 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1988)).

Specifically, the circuit court relied on Section 16.16 of the Institutional Agreement to find Grand Strand and BCBS did not intend their contract to be enforceable by third-parties.

Section 16.16 states the following:

No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is not intended to, and shall not be construed to, make any person or entity a third party beneficiary. Notwithstanding the preceding, nothing in this section shall affect Plans['] rights under Article XV, or a Member's right to receive Covered Services pursuant to the Terms of this Agreement.

(R. 123). The circuit court properly found this language to be a clear, explicit, and unambiguous expression of BCBS and Grand Strand's intent to preclude third-parties from asserting legal status as third-party beneficiaries and from enforcing the Institutional Agreement. (R. 7). It is undeniably clear from this provision that Grand Strand and BCBS did not intend for third-parties to be able to enforce their contract. To conclude otherwise would require a court to exceed its authority and read words into the Institutional Agreement to impart an intent that is contrary to the express intent of the contracting parties, and wholly unexpressed by them. *See Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009) (“The court is without authority to consider parties' secret intentions, and therefore words cannot be read into a contract to impart an intent unexpressed when the contract was executed.” (citing *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 73, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976))).

Beverly argues the circuit court erred in applying the direct and express language of Section 16.16 and, instead, argues the circuit court should have relied on purported intimations elsewhere in the Institutional Agreement to ascertain whether Grand Strand and BCBS intended for a third-party to have the right to enforce the Institutional Agreement. In an effort to persuade

this Court that the circuit court erred in interpreting the plain language of the contract, Beverly distorts selected provisions of the Institutional Agreement.

In her brief, Beverly asserts that “[t]he Institutional Agreement acknowledges its core objective is to support a ‘Preferred Provider Organization’ created ‘for the benefit of [Blue Cross policyholders].’” (Appellant’s Brief at 6). In fact, nowhere in the Institutional Agreement does it “acknowledge its core objective is to support a Preferred Provider Organization” for the benefit of BCBS policyholders.

Such benefit as Beverly or other insureds of BCBS may receive by virtue of their BCBS insurance plan participation is ancillary and incidental to the direct benefit intended for BCBS and Grand Strand. *See Bob Hammond Const. Co.*, 312 S.C. at 425, 440 S.E.2d at 892 (holding that the mere fact that the plaintiff might ultimately and indirectly benefit from the defendant’s contract is not sufficient to allow a plaintiff to maintain a breach of contract action).

In an effort to convince the Court that Grand Strand contracted for her benefit, Beverly seeks to misconstrue Section 2.16 of the Institutional Agreement. Section 2.16 describes a “Preferred Provider Organization” to be a network of providers under contract with the Plan whereby Benefit Contracts contain financial incentives for Members to seek Covered Services from such providers.² (R. 106). Under the Institutional Agreement, a “Benefits Contract” is essentially the insurance policy between BCBS and a Member entitling the Member to receive Covered Services. (R. 104). Although Beverly attempts to argue that “[t]he Institutional Agreement defines PPO as a health insurance network containing “financial incentives for Members,” (Appellant’s Brief at 6), the fact is that any “financial incentive for Members” is

² The Institutional Agreement defines “Member” as “anyone who is covered for health care services under the terms of a Benefits Contract or who is eligible for Covered Services as a result of an agreement between Plan and an Associate Plan.” Institutional Agreement § 2.11. (R. 105).

found in the Members' policies with BCBS. The financial incentives or benefits for insureds such as Beverly flow from their policy with BCBS. The Members' individual policies contain financial incentives for seeking treatment at selected providers, and BCBS incentivizes its Members to seek treatment from such providers, because it pays a reduced rate for services rendered by those providers. The Institutional Agreement, in contrast, is about the terms of the relationship between Grand Strand and BCBS. It is disingenuous to represent that the Institutional Agreement contains financial incentives for BCBS policyholders. Any financial incentives in the Institutional Agreement are for Grand Strand and BCBS.

Beverly also asserts that Section 6.1 of the Institutional Agreement shows that Grand Strand and BCBS intended to authorize BCBS members to independently enforce the Institutional Agreement. (Appellant's Brief at 6; 11-12). This is incorrect. Section 6.1 states, "[Grand Strand] shall seek payment for Covered Services solely from [BCBS]." (R. 109). This section allows Grand Strand to provide medical services to BCBS policyholders, and submit a bill for the medical services rendered directly to BCBS. This provision allows Grand Strand to collect payment from a single entity even though it provides treatment to multiple patients. This provision prevents Grand Strand from having to collect small amounts from multiple patients and, instead, allows Grand Strand to collect a larger amount directly from BCBS for the medical services rendered to BCBS policyholders. Removing the individual patients from the billing process is simply more economical, and for the benefit of the entities (Grand Strand and BCBS) who have agreed to conduct business in such a manner. Even if not being contacted for payment were construed as an incidental benefit for BCBS members, Section 6.1 in no way contradicts the express disclaimer of Section 16.16 against third party beneficiaries – *i.e.*, the clear

renunciation of any right of BCBS policyholders to independently enforce the Institutional Agreement.

The language of the Institutional Agreement is plain and unambiguous—Grand Strand and BCBS do not intend for third-parties to enjoy legal status as third-party beneficiaries able to enforce the terms of their contract. This Court should reject Beverly's assertions to the contrary, because they are based upon a distorted interpretation of the Institutional Agreement's express language. This Court should find the circuit court did not err in relying on the plain and unambiguous language of the Institutional Agreement to find that Beverly was not an intended third-party beneficiary and, therefore, Beverly lacks standing to bring a claim for breach of contract. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order dismissing Beverly's breach of contract claim for lack of standing.

B. Beverly relies on distinguishable authorities for support of her argument that other jurisdictions recognize insurance customers as third-party beneficiaries to PPO Provider Contracts.

Beverly relies on a series of plainly inapplicable and readily distinguishable authorities from other jurisdictions in an effort to support her argument that BCBS and Grand Strand intended the Institutional Agreement to provide a direct benefit to third-parties. The authorities relied upon by Beverly may be distinguished in two primary ways. First, Beverly cites several cases that do not involve provider agreements containing express third-party beneficiary disclaimers. Second, Beverly cites to several cases in which the contract at issue contained a third-party beneficiary disclaimer; however, in those cases each contract contained express language that exempted the plaintiff from the third-party beneficiary disclaimer.

In contrast, the Institutional Agreement contains an express disclaimer of third-party beneficiaries, and does not include any language that would exempt Beverly from its third-party beneficiary disclaimer.

1. **Authorities from other jurisdictions that do not address third-party beneficiary disclaimers in the agreements are inapplicable and unpersuasive.**

Beverly cites to the Tennessee Supreme Court's holding in *Benton v. Vanderbilt University*, 137 S.W.3d 614, 616 (Tenn. 2004) for the proposition that "[s]everal other jurisdictions have considered [whether an insured is a third-party beneficiary to a provider agreement] and held that patients like Ms. Beverly are third-party beneficiaries entitled to enforce insurer-provider contracts like the Institutional Agreement." (Appellant's Brief at 9). In *Benton*, the Tennessee Supreme Court found the plaintiff was a third-party beneficiary to the provider agreement between Vanderbilt Hospital and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Tennessee and compelled the plaintiff to arbitration pursuant to the arbitration clause in the provider agreement. *Benton*, 137 S.W.3d at 616. Beverly incorrectly asserts that the court in *Benton* addressed "the issue for **this same Institutional Agreement.**" (Appellant's Brief at 9) (emphasis in original). Based upon a review and comparison of the sections quoted by the court in *Benton* versus the Institutional Agreement, it is obvious that the contract in *Benton* is not the same as the Institutional Agreement in this case and Beverly's assertion is patently false.

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